2001

Jaye Smith Construction Co. v. Board of Education, Granite School District : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action by a contractor (Jaye Smith Construction Company) to recover against the contracting authority (Granite School District) for money that the contractor claims is owed it under its contract with Granite School District.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On December 19, 1975, the District Court, in a Memorandum Decision (R. 61-62), held that plaintiff was entitled to a judgment against defendant in the amount of \$4,992.24. On January 7, 1976, the District Court, with findings of fact and conclusions of law (R. 63-65), entered

judgment against defendant in the amount of \$4,992.24 plus interest in the amount of \$715.54. (R. 70). On February 20, 1976, the District Court amended the judgment to reduce the amount of interest awarded from \$715.54 to \$599.06 (R. 82-83).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to have the District Court's amended judgment reversed and to have judgment entered in appellant's favor.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 6, 1973, at the offices of Granite School District, a bid opening session was conducted to determine the low bidder on a contract to build an addition to the Kearns Junior High School gymnasium (PX*/ 13). The bids, which were submitted in sealed envelopes, were opened by Mr. Davidson, Director of New School Facilities, and handed to Dr. Call. (Tr.**/ 54). In addition to its bid proposal form (PX 10), the envelope of Jaye Smith Construction Company contained a letter signed by Mr. Jaye Smith stating:

*/ As hereinafter used, "PX" means "plaintiff's exhibit" and "DX" means "defendant's exhibit."

**/ As hereinafter used, "Tr." refers to the transcript of testimony.

Due to the difficulty in determining price and availability of the three inch roof deck material specified. . . , I have submitted my proposal on the basis of a cost of 36 cents per square foot of roof area. I use this figure only as a basis for arriving at a total bid price, and stipulate a change in contract price, either higher or lower as the information becomes available. (PX 11).

The evidence is clear that Granite School District officials were not made aware of the contents of this "contingency" letter during the bid opening session. Mr. Davidson testified that the "contingency" letter was not noticed at that time (Tr. 54); Dr. Call, in his affidavit, also claims that the letter was not noticed (R. 48). Mr. Smith, the president of plaintiff, also acknowledges that the contents of the letter were not brought up during the session,* although he claims a passing reference to the existence of the letter was made (Tr. 8). Plaintiff was second lowest bidder, and became low bidder when the previous low bidder asked to be and was allowed to withdraw its bid (Tr. 23-24, PX 13). After the session, when Mr. Smith met with the facilities representatives of Granite, no mention was made of the bid's contingent nature (Tr. 25). Immediately thereafter,

*/ In a letter dated January 14, 1974 (DX 9) from Jaye Smith to Arthur Olsen, the architect assigned to the project, Smith stated that he was "sorry the letter was overlooked at the bid opening."

the Board of Education met and the following occurred:

Dr. Call said that earlier this day, at 5:30 p.m., construction bids were opened for the physical education additions at Kearns Junior High School. The low responsible bidder was Jaye Smith Construction Company, with a bid of \$164,022, and a completion date of August 10, 1973. . . . Dr. Call made a recommendation that the Board award the bid to Jaye Smith Construction Company. (PX 14).

Again, there was no mention whatever of any contingency in the bid made by plaintiff. (Id.).

Two days later on March 8, 1973, Mr. Smith, on behalf of plaintiff, and Granite representatives met and formally signed the contract (PX 12), which provided in paragraph 11:

The Board agrees to pay the contractor for the said work and materials and for the full performance by the contractor of all covenants and conditions in the manner and form set out for the General Contract, including Plans & Specifications the sum of One Hundred Sixty Four Thousand Twenty Two (\$164,022) dollars subject to additions and deductions as herein provided, and subject to the provisions of this Agreement.

Nowhere in the contract is there any mention of a contingency in the amount to be paid the contractor. Moreover, by plaintiff's own admission, no mention whatsoever of a contingent bid was made during the meeting in which Mr. Smith

signed the contract.* / It was not until approximately six weeks later that Mr. Davidson discovered the existence of the letter. This occurred after Mr. Davidson heard about the possible contingency and checked the bid envelope. (Tr. 58).

At trial, counsel for Granite School District objected strenuously to the admission of evidence extraneous to the contract. The evidence was admitted and the court granted Granite a continuing objection to such evidence. (Tr. 2,4).

* / The transcript contains the following interchange between counsel for appellant and Mr. Smith:

Q. On March 8, 1973 was there any discussion at that time with Mr. Davidson as to the contingency in your bid for the roof decking amount?

A. No, there wasn't.

Q. Did you in fact sign the contract on March 8th?

A. Yes.

Q. And did you sign it in the amount of \$164,022.00?

A. I signed the contract with that amount written out.

(Tr.25).

Granite School District personnel have consistently refused to sign any change order allowing plaintiff to receive funds for the wood decking material beyond the amounts provided for in the contract. (Tr. 60). In April of 1974, several months after the job was completed, Mr. Olsen, the architect assigned to the project, signed a change order. Granite School District, the owner, did not sign the change order (PX 20).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN CONSIDERING EVIDENCE ANTECEDENT TO THE CONTRACT WHICH WAS ADMITTED FOR THE PURPOSE OF VARYING OR CONTRADICTING THE WRITTEN CONTRACT.

A. There is No Evidence Indicating that Granite Assented to the Terms of the "Contingency" Letter.

Finding of Fact No. IV of the District Court states:

Court finds that the letter written by the plaintiff was with the bid and it was present at the bid opening. That the same was noticed by agents of the defendant, or should have been, in the exercise of reasonable care in the examination of the bids. (R. 64) (Emphasis added).

Finding No. V states:

Court finds that the qualification letter was part of plaintiff's bid and became part of the contract executed by parties. . . (Id.).

By its terms, Finding IV is not a finding by the court that Granite representatives were aware of the contents of "contingency" letter; on the contrary, the court's conclusion that they should have noticed it clearly indicates an unwillingness by the court to conclude that Granite representatives in fact noticed the letter. Furthermore, by concluding in its memorandum opinion that "before the work was completed they [Granite] did learn of the letter," the court again indicates an unwillingness to conclude that Granite was aware of the letter prior to signing the contract.

The error in the district court's findings is its basing a contractual obligation on the fact that the letter "should have been [noticed] in the exercise of reasonable care." Contractual obligations do not arise out of negligence; rather, a contract can be found only where the parties there- to mutually assent to its terms:

The principle is fundamental that a party cannot be held to have contracted if there is no assent, and this is so both as to express contracts and contracts implied in fact. There must be mutual assent or a meeting of the minds on all essential elements or terms in order to form a binding contract.

17 Am. Jur. 2d, Contracts, §18, at 354 (1964). Thus, the court's absolute failure to find mutual assent to the terms of contingency letter is fatal to the court's finding that the letter "became a part of the contract." This is

especially so in light of the failure of Mr. Smith to bring the contingency up in the meeting following the bid opening and at the time the contract was signed.

B. Even if Granite Representatives were Aware of the Terms of the Contingency Letter any Evidence with Respect Thereto is Barred by the Parol Evidence Rule.

The parol evidence rule has been stated as follows:

When two parties have made a contract and have expressed it in a writing to which both have assented as the complete and accurate integration of the contract, evidence, whether parol or otherwise, of antecedent understandings and negotiations will not be admitted for the purpose of varying or contradicting the writing.

3 A. Corbin, Corbin on Contracts, §573, at 357 (1960). The parol evidence rule is clearly the law of the State of Utah. Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz, 28 Utah 2d 261, 501 P.2d 266 (1972); Rainford v. Rytting, 22 Utah 2d 252, 451 P.2d 769 (1969); Jensen's Used Cars v. Rice, 7 Utah 2d 376, 323 P.2d 259 (1958); Continental Bank & Trust Co. v. Bybee, 6 Utah 2d 98, 306 P.2d 773 (1957); Farr v. Wasatch Chemical Co., 143 P.2d 281 (Utah 1943). The first essential under the parol evidence rule is that the written contract be integrated. This court, in Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz, supra explained the requirements of an integrated contract:

An essential element of an integration is that the parties shall have manifested assent not merely to the provisions of their agreement but to the writing or writings in question as a final statement of their

intentions as to the matters contained therein. Whether a document was or was not adopted as an integration may be proved by any relevant evidence.

501 P.2d at 270. The relevant evidence in this case with regard to this issue is as follows: Granite representatives were not aware of the contingent nature of the bid (the uncontradicted evidence shows that, under its bid policies, had Granite been aware of the contingency, the bid would have been rejected (Tr. 55, 75-76)), and Mr. Smith never mentioned, either after the bid session or when the contract was signed, the contingent bid to Granite officials. Thus, at the time the contract was signed there was nothing to evidence any intent by either party that the written contract was not the full and complete agreement between them. The best evidence of the intent of the parties comes "from the four corners of the instrument itself." Continental Bank & Trust Co. v. Bybee, supra 306 P.2d at 775. As quoted above, paragraph 11 of the contract is clear and unequivocal as to the amount to which the contractor was entitled; nowhere in paragraph 11 or elsewhere in the contract is any contingency mentioned regarding the wood decking materials. There is absolutely no evidence in this case to indicate that the contract signed by the parties was not a fully integrated contract. Whether Mr. Smith subjectively felt that the contingency should be part of the contract, he must be bound by his objective

manifestation of assent to the terms of the written contract.

Once it is determined that a contract is integrated, the following rule of law comes into effect:

[W]hen parties have reduced to writing what appears to be a complete and certain agreement, it will be conclusively presumed, in the absence of fraud, that the writing contains the whole of the agreement between the parties; and that parol evidence of contemporaneous conversations, representations or statements will not be received for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of the written agreement.

Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz, supra, 501 P.2d at 270

(emphasis added). Since the contingency letter was obviously offered to vary the unambiguous terms of paragraph 11 of the contract, the court clearly erred in allowing the admission of such evidence. One of the best statements of the policies behind the parol evidence rule is found in a 1958 opinion of this Court, Jensen's Used Cars v. Rice, supra. In that case, defendant received delivery of a car from plaintiff, paid plaintiff a \$200 check, and signed a conditional sales contract. Later, defendant stopped payment on the check. The next day, however, defendant signed another conditional sales contract containing "clear, complete terms, including the price." Defendant paid nothing on the car, which was subsequently repossessed. Responding to defendant's contentions that the contract was cancelled, that he meant to enter a different contract, and that he didn't execute

the contract, the Court stated:

[H]is testimony was diametrically opposed to the manifestation of mutual assent reflected in his execution of an instrument whose terms were clear, unambiguous, understandable and known.

Elementary it is that in construing contracts we seek to determine the intentions of the parties. But it is also elementary and of extreme practical importance that we hold contracting parties to their clear and understandable language deliberately committed to writing and endorsed by them as signatories thereto. Were this not so business, one with another among our citizens, would be relegated to the chaotic, and the basic purpose of the law to supply enforceable rules of conduct for the maintenance and improvement of an orderly society's welfare and progress would find itself impotent. It is not unreasonable to hold one responsible for language which he himself espouses. Such language is the only implement he gives us to fashion a determination as to the intentions of the parties. Under such circumstances we should not be required to embosom any request that we ignore that very language. This is as it should be. The rule excluding matters outside the four corners of a clear, understandable document, is a fair one, and one's contentions concerning his intent should extend no further than his own clear expressions.

It was urged correctly that to admit matters outside a contract would do violence to the principle that one is bound by his manifestations of assent, and that, irrespective of such contention, such matters properly are excludable by the parol evidence rule,--which rule, counsel suggests, is one of substantive law rather than one of evidence. Whatever kind one calls it, the rule that excludes such evidence is a common sense rule.

323 P.2d at 260-61 (Emphasis added). Similarly in the instant

case, the contract terms were "clear, unambiguous, understandable and known." As such, this Court should again "hold contracting parties to their clear understandable language deliberately committed to writing and endorsed by them as signatories thereto." Appellant submits that prejudicial error was committed by the District Court in admitting the evidence as to the contingent nature of the bid and that the judgment should therefore be reversed.

POINT II

THE CHANGE ORDER SIGNED BY ARTHUR OLSEN IN APRIL 1974 IS NOT BINDING UPON GRANITE SCHOOL DISTRICT.

A. The Change Order is Clearly Invalid Since the Owner Has Never Approved it.

One of plaintiff's claims at trial was that a change order (PX 20) signed by the architect assigned to the project was binding upon Granite School District, thus requiring Granite to pay plaintiff for the extra cost of the wood decking. The District Court did not rule on this issue, either in its Memorandum Decision (R. 61-62) or its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R. 63-65). Nevertheless, appellant will address this issue on appeal since it is clear as a matter of law that the change order is not binding on Granite School District. The change order presented in evidence by plaintiff (PX 20) contains the following signatory section:

<u>Arthur K. Olsen</u>	<u>Jaye Smith Const., Inc.</u>	<u>Owner</u>
<u>Architect</u>	<u>Contractor</u>	
<u>357 East 5th South</u>	<u>3299 Meadowbrook Drive</u>	<u>Address</u>
<u>Address</u>	<u>Address</u>	
<u>Salt Lake City, Utah</u>	<u>Salt Lake City, Ut 84119</u>	
<u>By /s/ Arthur K. Olsen</u>	<u>By /s/ Jaye B. Smith</u>	<u>By</u>
<u>Date: April 26, 1974</u>	<u>Date: April 25, 1974</u>	<u>Date:</u>

The change order was not and has never been signed by the owner of the property. Thus, on the face of the document it is incomplete. Moreover, the unrebutted evidence of Mr. Davidson and Mr. Hilton, the present Director of Facilities, shows that the practice in Granite School District is that every change order must be approved by the assistant superintendent and signed by a Granite representative as well as the architect (Tr. 50, 76). More importantly, plaintiff's president has admitted that both the architect and owner are involved in determining whether extra funds will be approved:

Q. And that is, of course, in May of 1973. You didn't believe it was a change order expense? You believe it was additional expense to the contract, didn't you?

A. Frankly the architect and owner decide how these different little wrinkles are to be handled.

(Tr. 40) (Emphasis added). Absent the signature of the owner's authorized representative, the change order should be held invalid.

B. Both the Contractor and Architect Were Aware, At the Time of the April 1974 Change Order, That the Architect Was Not Authorized to Bind Granite School District.

As a legal matter, it is clear that the architect was powerless to bind the appellant via the April 1974 change order. The contract in this case outlines specific powers of the architect over various matters yet clearly does not authorize the architect to bind Granite as to change orders. Such situations are governed by the rule that "specific authorization of particular acts tends to show that a more general agency is not intended." Restatement (Second) of Agency § 37(2) (1958).

Moreover, both the architect and contractor were aware of this lack of power, as the exhibits clearly demonstrate. In DX 8, a letter from Olsen, the architect, to Davidson, dated January 8, 1974, Olsen clearly recognizes the need for approval by someone other than himself: "[T]he wood decking is an item that will need to be resolved at a meeting with the appropriate Granite School District representatives." This is further demonstrated by PX 17, a letter from Davidson to Olsen dated January 10, 1974, in which Davidson makes it very clear that the decision whether to pay plaintiff was not one to be made by Olsen. Moreover, it is also clear that Smith was aware that Olsen was not authorized to bind Granite by virtue of fact that Smith had read Davidson's letter to Olsen. In PX 18, a letter from Smith to Olsen, Smith refers to the contents

of Davidson's letter. Smith also stated in testimony that he saw the January 10 letter and was aware that Granite was not going to authorize the payment. (Tr. 36-37). Therefore, because of its knowledge to the contrary, plaintiff cannot claim that it believed that Olsen was authorized to issue the April 1974 change order.

C. The Change Order, Even if Validly Executed, is Unenforceable Since it is Not Supported by Consideration.

As discussed supra, the change order relied upon by plaintiff was executed months subsequent to the completion of the project. Plaintiff had fully performed its obligations with regard to the additions to the junior high gymnasium.

Under the law of contracts, a contract may be superseded or modified by another contract (such as a change order). However, the law is clear that

a new agreement by the parties to an older one, altering, canceling, supplementing, or supplanting their former compact, in order to be valid, requires some consideration. Where a written contract is, by a later contract, altered or modified in some of its terms, the later contract must be founded upon some valid consideration.

17 Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 460, at 926-27 (1964). What does or does not constitute sufficient consideration is further analyzed in the same treatise:

[I]t is generally held that there is insufficient consideration in the absence of . . . reciprocity of consideration. Each party must gain or lose something by the change. If the benefit or detriment is unilateral, a consideration is lacking, for it

is a well established legal principle that doing or undertaking to do only that which one is already under a legal obligation to do by his contract is no consideration for another's agreement to do what he is not already under a legal obligation to do.

Id. § 461, at 927-28 (emphasis added). In this case, Granite could receive nothing more than it had already received under the contract. Any benefit derived from the change order was necessarily unilateral. Thus, under the legal principles articulated above, the change order was without consideration and therefore unenforceable.

POINT III

THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN ALLOWING PLAINTIFF TO AMEND ITS COMPLAINT AFTER TRIAL HAD BEGUN.

At trial, after evidence had been presented, plaintiff sought to amend its complaint to include a claim that defendant had improperly withheld payment from plaintiff for extra costs incurred in striping the basketball floor at Kearns Junior High School. This request was granted over defendant's objection (Tr. 18-19) and the Court ultimately granted judgment for plaintiff on this claim in the amount of \$150. Granite was neither prepared to present evidence on or to defend against plaintiff's allegations regarding this claim. Defendant was prepared regarding the issues raised by plaintiff's complaint--namely, whether Granite was liable for the added costs.

of the decking material. Plaintiff's complaint (R. 1-2), which was filed on September 12, 1974, made no claim whatever on the striping question, nor was any discovery had on this issue. As such, defendant was completely surprised and prejudicially affected by the Court's allowing plaintiff to amend its complaint after trial had begun.

Although it is freely conceded that Rule 15(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that leave to amend pleadings "shall be freely given when justice so requires," such liberality cannot operate to the prejudice of another party. Indeed, one of the primary purposes of pleading is to prevent surprise at trial. In Porter v. Shoemaker, 6 F.R.D. 438 (M.D. Pa. 1947), for example, the court was construing the purposes of pleading under the Federal Rules (after which the Utah rules are patterned), and had this to say:

The whole theory with respect to the functions of pleading is changed. Under the equity practice the function was to plead facts and to frame the issues. Under the new rules, the purpose of the pleadings is to give notice of what an adverse party may expect to meet. The broadening of the discovery rules and other pretrial procedure is designed to define the issues and obtain the facts."

Id. at 440 (Emphasis added). Thus, unless an adverse party is notified of the claims of the other party, the whole purpose of the Rules of Civil Procedure is subverted.

The case law in the United States is unanimous in its conclusion that the liberal rule regarding amendment of pleadings must be weighed against the possible prejudicial

effect such liberality can have on an opposing party. In Strauss v. Douglas Aircraft Co., 404 F.2d 1152 (2d Cir. 1968), just prior to trial (and four years after the initial answer was filed) the defendant attempted to amend its answer to raise a statute of limitations defense. In holding that the defendant could not be allowed to amend at that late date, the court reasoned:

Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a) requires that leave to amend the pleadings be granted freely "when justice so requires." At the same time, it is clear that such leave should be denied where the amendment would cause substantial prejudice to a party to the action.

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