2000

Jaye Smith Construction Co. v. Board of Education, Granite School District : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

ALL DOCUMENTS WHICH SHED LIGHT ON MEANING OF A CONTRACT MAY BE CONSIDERED IN INTERPRETATION.

The thrust of defendant's argument under Point I of its brief is that the trial court could not receive in evidence and consider Exhibit 11-P, plaintiff's note attached to the proposal form. The note accurately set forth a state of facts that related to one of the items included in the proposal. It is undisputed that the statements in the exhibit were true. At the time of the bid opening, prices on this particular item could not be obtained and a base price was included for the purpose of calculating the bid.

Based on the proposal form, a contract was prepared (Exhibit 12-P). It refers to the plans and specifications for the building, a document completely outside of the contract. Fortunately, there is no argument about the plans and specifications.

They include the requirement that the Red Star decking and the Blue Star decking manufactured by Weyerhaeuser be used, and this is the item referred to in Exhibit 11-P.

Williston on Contracts, Third Edition, §628, Pg. 904, Vol. 4, recites the general rule that documents referred to in an integrated agreement become a part of the agreement as far as they are incorporated by reference. This is true even when the items such as specifications and plans for construction are not attached to the written agreement. Then the Section recites as the law the following:

"Even where a writing does not refer to another writing, if such other writing was made as part of the same transaction, the two should be interpreted together."
Pg. 904.

Plaintiff submits that it is obvious that the proposal form, the letter attached, the contract, the plans and specifications, are all documents that should be referred to by the court and interpreted together in arriving at the state of the facts on which the parties contracted at the time of the contract.

Defendant cites for the court's consideration Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz, 501 P.2d 266, 28 Utah 2d 261. Plaintiff submits that this decision supports the basic principles that uphold the trial court's decision. In Bullfrog Marina, Inc., the trial court had held that an employment agreement and a lease that had been executed by the parties were related and that both of the documents had to be interpreted together, even though neither referred to the other, and set down the principle of law that

plaintiff believes is applicable, Utah 267:

"The trial court did not err in following the rule of law that where two or more instruments are executed by the same parties contemporaneously, or at different times in the course of the same transaction, and concern the same subject matter, they will be read and construed together so far as determining the respective rights and interests of the parties, although they do not in terms refer to each other."

An additional important decision that recites correctly the law where there are more than one writing executed contemporaneously with the contract or relating to the execution of the contract is Continental Bank & Trust Co. v. Bybee, 306 P.2d 773, 6 Utah 2d 98. The court there held that where the intentions of the parties are to be ascertained, the document itself is first considered, then contemporaneous writings concerning the same subject matter are considered, and third, extrinsic parol evidence of intentions may be considered.

Plaintiff's position is that the exhibit relating to the Weyerhaeuser decking is not an attempt to vary the terms of a written instrument, but simply shows the state of facts at the time the proposal form was executed. Defendant prepared the plans and specifications requiring Weyerhaeuser decking and should be charged with knowledge of its unavailability and price uncertainty. Certainly if plaintiff, after commencing the construction, had been unable to obtain Weyerhaeuser decking and requested a right to substitute, Exhibit 11-P would have been something the parties would consider. If substitution had been permitted and a higher price material than those estimated in the bid were required, no one would argue, it is submitted, that plaintiff would not be

entitled to the additional allowance. Or, by the same token, if substitution were permitted and cheaper materials than the amount set forth in the bid were obtained, it is obvious that a reduction in the contract payment would be made.

An even more recent case decided by the court indicating the application of basic rules for the interpretation of contracts to municipal corporations and other public organizations is Midwest Realty v. City of West Jordan, Case No. 13874, decided on October 29, 1975. There bid forms were used and minutes of council meetings examined to determine the agreement between the parties and the City was required to pay for the reasonable value of the advantages and improvements it received.

When all of the documents are examined under which plaintiff constructed the Kearns Junior High facility, plaintiff submits that there is adequate provision for the interpretation placed on the agreement by the trial court.

The agreement provides for adjustments as the construction project proceeds. The adjustments to be made by consultation and through the architect who is designated as the defendant's representative. The modifications may increase or decrease the contract price. If work is deleted, costs are decreased. If added, increased.

The Weyerhaeuser Blue Star and Red Star decking were items which the contractor foresaw would become problems in the construction. The material was not being manufactured and a supply was not available, so price would be uncertain. Should plaintiff now be penalized for its efforts to be fair and equitable

in performing the contract undertaken for the School Board.

The architect, the designated agent of the Board, agreed that the contractor is entitled to an increase in the price, and under the facts presented the court agreed.

It is submitted the results reached are well within the terms of the written instruments which the court considered properly.

POINT II

CHANGE ORDERS APPROVED BY ARCHITECT MAY BE BASIS FOR COURT'S DETERMINATION OF EQUITABLE SETTLEMENT.

Defendant, in its second point, argues that the change orders that were executed by architect Olsen, acting as agent for the Board, are not binding upon the Board. It is true that no final approval of said change orders was ever obtained by plaintiff. Had he been able to obtain the approval and get paid, then this matter would not be here for the court's consideration. The refusal to approve was arbitrary, unreasonable, and a violation of the agreement.

Consider first change order No. 2 for the striping of the basketball courts. There is no dispute about this being an extra activity required by the contractor. There is no dispute about the reasonableness of the charge of \$150.00. There is no dispute about the fact that it was done at the request of the District and was not included in plaintiff's contract. Yet the change order was not approved after it had been submitted by the architect and by plaintiff. No objection was made by the District as the agreement required. At the time of the trial, witness Davidson, who was the representative of the District during the construction

period, testified concerning the \$150.00 item:

"As an extra expense, I feel that the contractor be paid for it, should at this time." (Pg. 68, Tr. of T.)

Plaintiff might be willing to concede that the executed change orders requested by him were not binding upon the District until approved by someone above the level of the architect. But certainly approval could not be withheld arbitrarily. In the light of all the evidence, the payments are in fairness and equity due to the contractor.

In a very recent decision, this court, in considering construction contracts and their interpretation, set forth the rule which, plaintiff submits, is applicable here. In Zion's Property, Inc. v. Holt, 538 P.2d 1319, Pg. 1321, the court stated:

"We accept the correctness of plaintiff's argument that there is implied in any contract a covenant of good faith and cooperation, which should prevent either party from impeding the other's performance of his obligations thereunder;"

The court's findings do not require a finding that the District was bound by the architect's approval of the change orders. On the basis of the equitable principles cited, the District should pay the charge for decking specified. Unjust enrichment would occur if it were not required to pay.

Both of the witnesses for defendant, that is Davidson and Hilton, testified that many adjustments are necessary in the construction of large projects, and the adjustments that are made are those which the District and the contractor, in negotiation, consider to be fair under all the circumstances. Their testimony

establishes the principle requiring fair play and good faith in the adjusting claims. (See Davidson, Pg. 64 of Tr. of T.; Hilton, Pg. 80 of Tr. of T.)

The law recognizes that in every contract there is an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. (17 C.J.S., §328, Pg. 285-86)

A contract conferring on one party discretionary power which affects the other party's rights imposes a duty to exercise such discretion in good faith and in accordance with fair dealing. California Lettuce Growers v. Union Sugar Co., 45 C.2d 474, 289 P.2d 785.

This court in State Automobile & Casualty Underwriters v. Salisbury, 27 Utah 2d 229, 494 P.2d 529, set forth the contractual obligation to be implied in the following language:

"But also to be considered in connection therewith are the mutual responsibilities the parties have to each other which are implied from the operation of law applicable to such relationship. Arising from what is commonly known and accepted as to the customs and experience in the everyday affairs of life, the parties each has the right to assume that the other will perform the duties he agrees to with reasonable care, competence, diligence and good faith, even though such terms are not expressly spelled out in the contract; and if failure to so perform those duties results in damage to the other party he is entitled to recover for breach of the contractual duties."

No evidence was presented which indicated that the adjustments requested by plaintiff were not fair, equitable and reasonable. The court found in accordance with the claim of plaintiff that the items should be paid him in settlement of his contract with the District, and that to refuse payment would be an unjust enrichment

to the District, permitting it to take his materials without just compensation.

POINT III

AMENDMENT TO INCLUDE STRIPING CHANGE WAS PROPERLY GRANTED.

Defendant claims unfair surprise in the court's permitting the amendment to be made to the Complaint. It related to the \$150.00 item for striping of the basketball floor. It was not included in the original Complaint because plaintiff believed it to be an item that the District never intended to dispute. An item which it thought the District would pay without being a part of the litigation.

As early as January 8, 1974, the painting of additional lines on the wood floor was approved by the architect when the matter was discussed in April, 1974, and change orders were prepared and submitted. Change order No. 2 covering the striping was not a matter to be contested. (See Exhibit 22-P for the reference to this item).

In addition to the references made in the exhibits referred to, in Answers to Interrogatories during the discovery period, Answer No. 4 on Pg. 12 of the Record on Appeal states the following:

"Attached to these Answers and by this reference made a part hereof, are the two change orders which have been approved by the architect and forwarded to the School Board. Neither of the change orders has been paid. It is plaintiff's position that the modification on contract price is provided for in the contract and the change orders, once approved by the agent for the School Board, namely the architect, the School Board is then bound by said approved change and must pay the additional price as part of the contract."

The exhibits were the change orders now in this litigation.

Rule 15 of the U.R.C.P. provides that where issues are not raised by the pleadings, amendments may be made as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise the issues upon motion of any party at any time, even after judgment, and provides that the court may allow the pleadings to be amended when the presentation of the merits of the action will be served thereby and the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense upon the merits.

This court, in a carefully stated interpretation of Rule 15(b), U.R.C.P., set down the principles, plaintiff believes, which require approval of the trial court's order permitting amendment. See Cheney v. Rucker, 14 Utah 2d 205, 381 P.2d 86, at pg. 211:

"They must all be looked to in the light of their even more fundamental purpose of liberalizing both pleading and procedure to the end that the parties are afforded the privilege of presenting whatever legitimate contentions they have pertaining to their dispute. What they are entitled to is notice of the issues raised and an opportunity to meet them. When this is accomplished, that is all that is required. Our rules provide for liberality to allow examination into and settlement of all issues bearing upon the controversy, but safeguard the rights of the other party to have a reasonable time to meet a new issue if he so requests. Rule 15(b), U.R.C.P., so states. It further allows for an amendment to conform to the proof after trial or even after judgment, and indicates that if the ends of justice so require, 'failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these issues.' This idea is confirmed by Rule 54(c) (1), U.R.C.P.: '(E)very final judgment shall grant the relief to which the party in whose favor it is rendered is entitled, even if the party has not demanded such relief in his pleadings.'"

See also Seamons v. Andersen, 122 Utah 497, 252 P.2d 209; Morris v. Russell, 120 Utah 545, 236 P.2d 451.

In the light of the fact that the \$150.00 item had been a matter repeatedly discussed during the time that this case was being brought to issue and to trial and was an item that the plaintiff had been assured there was no serious controversy about, plaintiff submits that the claim that defendant was surprised or prejudiced in any way by having this matter determined and submitted to the trial court and included in the ultimate judgment against the District seems to be without merit.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiff respectfully submits that the judgment of the trial court should be affirmed, that costs be allowed to the plaintiff.